1993

Walters v. Walters : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction over this domestic relations matter pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78-2a-3(2)(i) (Supp. 1992).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. Did the trial court err by determining that unique or exceptional circumstances existed which warranted a reallocation of Defendant's pre-marital property?

This question challenges the trial court's Findings of Fact. The applicable standard of review is a clearly erroneous standard. The appellate court may disturb the trial court's Findings of Fact if such findings are clearly erroneous. Hagan v. Hagan, 810 P.2d 478, 481

(Utah App. 1991); Hinckley v. Hinckley, 815 P.2d 1352 (Utah App. 1991). The appellate court should also review the trial court's decision on the basis that it is clearly unjust and a clear abuse of discretion. Smith v. Smith, 751 P.2d 1149, 1151 (Utah App. 1988).

II. Did the trial court err by not applying appropriate partnership dissolution rules when it reallocated the Defendant's pre-marital property after determining that the parties had a partnership relationship prior to the solemnization of their marriage?

This question calls for a review of the trial court's Conclusions of Law. The appellate court should review the trial court's Conclusions of Law with no particular deference and should review such Conclusions of Law for correctness. Oats v. Chavez, 749 P.2d 658 (Utah 1988).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

Utah Code Ann. §48-1-15, §48-1-37, and §30-1-4.5 (1953 as amended) are the applicable statutes in this matter, copies of which are included in the Addendum.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before the appellate court for the second time.¹ The trial court originally ruled that the parties had a marriage-like relationship on or about January 1, 1980 (R. 99, 103) (though the marriage was not solemnized until October 5, 1984) and distributed the property of the parties on the basis that they had a common law marriage pursuant to Utah Code

¹This matter has previously been appealed to the Utah Court of Appeals, Case No. 890671-CA; Walters v. Walters, 812 P.2d 64 (Utah App. 1991).

Ann. §30-1-4.5.² (R. 147). The Court of Appeals remanded to the trial court to properly categorize the parties property as marital or pre-marital based on the marriage date of October 5, 1984. (R. 210). The court could then consider whether unique or exceptional circumstances existed meriting premarital property to be included in the marital estate.

On remand, the trial court determined that "unique circumstances" existed allowing the court to exercise its discretion to reallocate premarital property. (R. 231). The court found "that from January 1980 until the time the parties were married, they commingled their earnings and efforts in such a way as to establish, for all intents and purposes, a partnership." (R. 232). On such basis, the trial court ruled that the Plaintiff was entitled to a reallocation of Defendant's premarital property. (R. 232).

There are principally three parcels of real property which are at issue--Parcel 1, located in a trailer park at 625 South 50 West, Pleasant Grove, Utah; Parcel 2, located in a trailer park at 640 South 50 West, Pleasant Grove, Utah; and Parcel 3, located at 6072 West 9600 North, Highland, Utah.³

Parcel 1 was acquired by the Defendant in 1980 at a cost of \$11,500. (Tr. 57). The Defendant also paid \$2,165 for hookups for electricity and sewer (Tr. 57), and \$700 for the

²The trial court applied U.C.A. §30-4-4.5 retroactively. Section 30-4.4.5 was not adopted until 1987.

³There is a fourth parcel of which the parties have stipulated that Defendant has no equitable interest in as he is listed as a legal owner only as an accommodation to his son to enable his son to acquire equitable interests in the property.

concrete pad. (Tr. 58). In addition, the Defendant hired a backhoe to put the water line and sewer line in. (Tr. 58). The Defendant participated with preparing and laying the concrete pad and the driveway. (Tr. 60). An addition to the driveway was paid for by the Defendant (Tr. 60), as was a retaining wall, two sheds, and a fence. (Tr. 61).

In 1980, the Defendant permitted the Plaintiff to move her trailer on the pad located at Parcel 1 and live there rent free. (Tr. 28, 45, 56). At that time, the Plaintiff was being evicted from another trailer park. (Tr. 44). In addition to paying \$521.00 for cost of moving the Plaintiff's trailer, the Defendant further assisted the Plaintiff by paying a number of debts and obligations of the Plaintiff's which included IRS--\$4,000.00; State Tax Commission--\$2,700.00; payment on Plaintiff's trailer--\$3,000.00; payment on car loan--\$400.00; payment on television loan--\$150.00; and bills from a Wyoming accident--\$1000.00. [Transcript and exhibit from original trial (Tr. 86-88, 105-106) (Ex. 13)] All of these expenses were paid prior to the marriage in 1984. The Defendant also spent \$5,000.00 for the remodeling of the Plaintiff's trailer of which he performed much of the labor himself. (Tr. 67). These improvements included tearing out the living room and remodeling it, reinsulating, rewiring, putting up sheetrock, putting in new lighting, replacing the kitchen floor, building new cabinets, building a closet, and purchasing new windows. (Tr. 67). The Defendant also provided money to the Plaintiff when she was unemployed. (Tr. 39).

In exchange for moving on Parcel 1 rent free, the Plaintiff agreed to coordinate all of the improvements needed, of which the Defendant would pay for. (Tr. 55, 56). With

regards to helping with improvements to Parcel 1, the Plaintiff helped coordinate the laying of concrete (Tr. 15, 21, 23, 26), laid sod, and planted flowers and trees. (Tr. 26). The Plaintiff helped assist with the numerous improvements to her trailer itself, both inside and outside. (Tr. 14, 15, 35). These improvements were paid for by the Defendant. (Tr. 67).

Parcel 2 was acquired in 1985 after the parties were married. The Defendant paid \$10,500.00 for the property along with the associated hookup costs of \$2,165.00. (Tr. 62). The Defendant's trailer was moved onto this property. At the time of the original trial, Parcel 2 had an encumbrance of approximately \$5,000.00. (R. 238-239). The Defendant was held solely and individually liable for this debt. (R. 251). With regards to improvements to Parcel 2, all expenses were paid for by the Defendant. The Plaintiff helped coordinate the necessary cement work, and prepared the Defendant's trailer for rental. (Tr. 37).

In 1977, the Defendant purchased Parcel 3 for \$8,000.00. (Tr. 53). He made a final payment for Parcel 3 in the amount of \$1,682.15 on May 23, 1981. (R. 239). The Defendant paid for substantial improvements to Parcel 3, including the construction of a 24'x 40' metal building, a sump tank, footings and a foundation wall, and concrete work. (Tr. 53, 54). The Plaintiff helped coordinate certain of these improvements such as arranging for the construction of the building, digging and laying of water pipes, back filling and leveling, and the laying of PVC Pipe and concrete. (Tr. 39).

The trial court found that parcels 1 and 3 were the Defendant's premarital property, whereas each of the parties had a 50% interest in Parcel 2. (R. 239). The court then awarded

Parcel 1 to the Plaintiff and parcels 2 and 3 to the Defendant. (R. 250). The Defendant was further held solely and individually liable for the debt owing on Parcel 2. (R. 251).

On April 21, 1993, the Defendant filed his Notice of Appeal from the decision rendered by Judge Ray M. Harding. (R. 254).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There were not unique or exceptional circumstances which warranted the trial court to reallocate the Defendant's pre-marital property. The facts and circumstances of which the trial court listed, though great in number, are not unique in nature, either singularly or collectively. A majority of the circumstances in which the trial court relied on deal with the parties pre-marital relationship and the findings are akin to recognizing once again a common law marriage before the common law marriage statute was enacted.

The Plaintiff derived a great financial benefit from her pre-marital relationship with the Defendant. The Defendant paid off substantial debts for the Plaintiff and moved her trailer to his trailer pad where he permitted her to live rent free. With the financial and physical assistance from the Defendant, the Plaintiff obtained significant improvements to her trailer. Though the Plaintiff did help arrange for and make physical improvements to the Defendant's realty, such improvements were paid for by the Defendant. The efforts of the Plaintiff, on the other hand, were not a substantial contribution to the growth of the Defendant's realty. A close reading of the record shows those efforts consisted of mainly organizing her friends to do concrete work. This added no appreciable value to the property as shown by Plaintiff's appraisal.

The extensive costs expended on the Plaintiff's behalf prevented the Defendant from enhancing his properties. These properties were not accumulated or enhanced by the joint efforts of the parties as the trial court found. The trial court's findings are clearly erroneous, and its decision is clearly unjust and a clear abuse of discretion.

Rather than calling the parties pre-marital relationship a "marriage like relationship", the trial court found that from January 1980 until the time the parties were married, the nature of the parties' relationship, for all intents and purposes, was a partnership. The trial court, in its Memorandum Decision, determined that the Plaintiff's contributions of time and money to partnership endeavors entitled Plaintiff to a reallocation of Defendant's pre-marital property. (R. 232). The trial court's findings of fact, conclusions of law, and amended decree, do not reflect a partnership distribution, and are thus inconsistent with the court's written Memorandum Decision. Furthermore, the trial court did not apply partnership distribution rules as required by Utah Code Ann. §§48-1-15 and 48-1-37. The trial court's Conclusions of Law should be reviewed for their correctness.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE WERE NOT UNIQUE OR EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH WARRANTED THE DISTRIBUTION OF THE DEFENDANT'S PREMARITAL PROPERTY.

The trial court acknowledged the general rule cited in Haumont v. Haumont, 793 P.2d 421 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) which states that typically, each party is to "retain the separate

property he or she brought into the marriage." At 424. (R. 231). It further noted that trial courts have the discretion to "reallocate premarital property" where "unique circumstances" exist. Id. (R. 231). The court then relied on facts and circumstances set forth in paragraph 10(a-1) of the original findings and conclusions signed October 5, 1989, and found such to be "unique" in nature. (R. 232).⁴ The Defendant submits that the facts and circumstances in paragraph 10(a-1) are not unique in nature, either singularly or collectively. Furthermore, by relying on such circumstances as "unique" in nature, is akin to once again recognizing a "marriage like relationship" prior in time to when Utah's common law marriage statute was enacted. Utah Code Ann. §30-1-4.5 (1987).

Looking closely at paragraph 10(a-1) of the findings and conclusions signed October 5, 1989 (R. 150-152), and paragraph 3(A-L) of the findings and conclusions signed March 23, 1993 (R. 235-237), the facts and circumstances are not "unique" in nature.

Each subparagraph is not unique in nature unless perhaps one is trying to establish that there was a "marriage like relationship". For instance, the first subparagraph states that "The parties met on the Defendant's birthday, 4 December, 1978". (R. 150, 235). This surely is not unique in nature.

The second subparagraph points out that the Plaintiff resided in her mobile home in Orem, Utah, and when the Defendant was not working out of state on temporary duty

⁴Paragraph 10(a-1) were reincorporated into the trial courts last Findings and Conclusions as Paragraph 3(A-L). (R. 235-237).

assignments, he would stay with the Plaintiff in her mobile home. (R. 150, 235). Again, this is not unique in nature.

Likewise, in all twelve subparagraphs of these findings, none are unique in nature, either singularly or collectively, which would warrant the distribution of the Defendant's pre-marital property. These subparagraphs only evidence that the parties had a pre-marital relationship and that the Plaintiff derived great benefit from such relationship at the financial sacrifice of the Defendant. Of these findings, only subparagraph "e/E" remotely represents circumstances that would permit the Plaintiff to have a share of the Defendant's pre-marital property. (This will be further addressed below concerning the Plaintiff's contribution toward the growth of the Defendant's separate assets.) In summary, by recognizing the aforementioned subparagraphs as "unique" in nature, would, in essence, be once again recognizing a "marriage like relationship" before Utah Code Ann. §30-1-4.5 was enacted in 1987. As this court has already ruled, §30-4-4.5 may not be applied retroactively. Walters v. Walters, 812 P.2d 64, 69 (Utah App. 1991).

As instructed by the Court of Appeals, the trial court points out that it considered the factors suggested in Burke v. Burke, 733 P.2d 133, 135 (Utah 1987) for determining unique circumstances. As Burke points out, the factors that are generally considered are:

the amount and kind of property to be divided; whether the property was acquired before or during the marriage; the source of the property; the health of the parties; the parties' standard of living, respective financial conditions, needs, and earning capacity; the duration of the marriage; the children of the marriage; the

parties' ages at time of marriage and of divorce; what the parties gave up by the marriage; and the necessary relationship the property division has with the amount of alimony and child support to be awarded. Of particular concern . . . is whether one spouse has made any contribution toward the growth of the separate assets of the other spouse and whether the assets were accumulated or enhanced by the joint efforts of the parties. (emphasis added).

Id. at 135; Walters, 812 P.2d at 67. After considering such factors, a trial court may reallocate premarital property if unique circumstances exist. Id.; Haumont, 793 P.2d at 424-25.

The trial court states that it gave special attention to the factor most emphasized in Burke: "Of particular concern . . . is whether one spouse has made any contribution toward the growth of the separate assets of the other spouse and whether the assets were accumulated or enhanced by the joint efforts of the parties." At. 135. (R. 232). The trial court concluded that the Plaintiff made a substantial contribution to the growth of the Defendant's separate assets.

The Defendant asserts that the efforts of the Plaintiff were not a substantial contribution to the growth of the Defendant's realty. A close reading of the record indicates that those efforts primarily consisted of organizing her friends to do concrete work. (Tr. 15, 16, 17, 19, 23, 26, 33, 37, 38, 55, 56). She also planted some sod and flowers on parcel 1. (Tr. 26). This added no appreciable value to the property awarded to her as shown by the Plaintiff's appraiser. (R. 243, 244). The Plaintiff's appraisal valued Parcel's 1 and 2 at the same value, each at \$20,000.00. The Plaintiff's appraisal does not reflect an appreciable value for the improvements on Parcel 1 of which the Plaintiff was involved.

All of the improvements which were made on the properties were paid for by the Defendant. (Tr. 49). In addition to paying off the payments on the Plaintiff's trailer home totaling \$3,500.00 (Tr. 67), the Defendant spent over \$5,000.00 for improvements to the Plaintiff's trailer (Tr. 67), all to the benefit of the Plaintiff. The Plaintiff derived further financial benefit from the Defendant as he moved her trailer, at a cost of \$521, to his pad located on Parcel 1 where she was permitted to live rent free. The Defendant further assisted the Plaintiff by paying off her debts and obligations which included \$4,000.00 to the IRS, \$2,700.00 to the State Tax Commission, \$400.00 for a car loan, \$150.00 for a television loan, and bills from a Wyoming accident totaling \$1,000.00. [transcript and exhibit from original trial (Tr. 86-88, 105-106) (Ex. 13)]. All of these expenses were paid prior to the parties marriage in 1984. The Defendant also paid substantial amounts of money to the Plaintiff for services rendered and to keep her going at home. (Tr. 67, 68).

The trial court is mistaken by finding that the Plaintiff was a financial contributor to the relationship which allowed the Defendant the ability to pool his resources and use them for the purchase of his properties. (R. 240). It is quite evident that the Plaintiff's financial assistance did not enhance the Defendant. He could have and would have paid for the improvements and properties with or without her. (Tr. 64). He was of great assistance to her at his expense. Without the considerable payments on the Plaintiff's behalf, the Defendant would have better been able to dedicate his resources to accumulating and enhancing his properties.

It is evident that the trial court's findings are clearly erroneous. The record is clear that there are not unique circumstances which warrant the reallocation of the Defendant's pre-marital property. The trial court's decision is clearly unjust and a clear abuse of discretion.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT APPLY APPROPRIATE PARTNERSHIP DISSOLUTION RULES WHEN IT REALLOCATED THE DEFENDANT'S PRE-MARITAL PROPERTY AFTER DETERMINING THAT THE PARTIES HAD A PARTNERSHIP RELATIONSHIP PRIOR TO THE SOLEMNIZATION OF THEIR MARRIAGE.

It is evident that the trial court struggled with the prospect of not being able to treat the parties' pre-marital relationship as a "marriage like relationship". The court overcame this by determining that the relationship, for all intents and purposes, was a partnership, as stated in the court's Memorandum Decision. (R. 232). However, the court's determination that there was a partnership, was not incorporated in the court's findings of fact, conclusions of law, and amended decree, and thus they are inconsistent with the court's Memorandum Decision. By recognizing a partnership, the trial court should have applied the appropriate partnership dissolution rules when reallocating the Defendant's pre-marital property. These rules were not used, resulting in the pre-marital property being distributed in an inequitable manner.

The applicable partnership dissolution rules require that each partner should be repaid their respective contributions and that the liabilities should be paid proportionately. Utah Code Ann. §§48-1-15, 48-1-37 (1953 as amended). Section 48-1-15(1) states that "Each partner shall be repaid his contributions, whether by way of capital or advances to the partnership

property . . . and must contribute towards the losses, whether of capital or otherwise, sustained by the partnership according to his share in the profits." Id. Section 48-1-37(4) further states that "The partners shall contribute as provided by Subsection 48-1-15(1) the amount necessary to satisfy the liabilities . . .". Id.

To properly apply these rules, the trial court should have determined the respective contributions of the parties and then distributed the properties accordingly. The court's allocation of the properties were inequitably divided as the Defendant was not properly credited for his significant contributions. The Plaintiff, however, was credited for contributions which were insignificant in nature or that applied solely to the betterment of her own personal property.

Because the trial court failed to properly apply the partnership dissolution rules, a manifest injustice occurred, and the court's conclusions of Law should be reviewed for their correctness.