1993

Walters v. Walters : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There were unique and exceptional circumstances which warranted the trial court in reallocating the Defendant's pre-marital property. The facts and circumstances which the trial court listed were unique and in fact established that Plaintiff in this case clearly made a substantial contribution to the growth of Defendant's separate assets and that the assets were accumulated and/or enhanced by the joint efforts of the parties.

The circumstances considered by the court in determining whether or not unique and exceptional circumstances occurred are as follows: whether one spouse has made any contribution for the growth of the separate assets of the other spouse and whether the assets were accumulated or enhanced by the joint efforts of the parties; amount and kind of property to be divided; whether the property was acquired before or during the marriage; source of the property; health of the parties; the parties' standard of living; respective financial conditions; needs and earning capacity; the

duration of the marriage; the children of the marriage; the parties' ages at the time of marriage and at divorce; what the parties gave up by the marriage; and a necessary relationship that property division has with the amount of alimony and child support to be awarded; whether one spouse has made any contribution toward the growth of the separate assets of the other spouse and whether the assets were accumulated or enhanced by the joint efforts of the parties.

The trial court found that from January of 1980 until the time the parties were married, the nature of the parties' relationship for all intents and purposes was a partnership. Because Defendant's realty at issue was acquired and improved during the time in which the parties were commingling their earnings and efforts, the court found that such assets were accumulated or enhanced by the joint efforts of the parties. The source of the property was that of purchase by Defendant in each of the cases of the pre-marital property. However, Plaintiff was also a financial contributor to the relationship which allowed Defendant the ability to pool his resources and use for the purchase of said properties. Were it not for Plaintiff's help however, Defendant would have needed to use his resources in other manners and would not have been able to purchase said properties. The term "partnership" was used by the court to describe the parties' pre-marital relationship. The court is entitled to look at pre-marital and post-marital property in making a property distribution. The court then went on to say that during the time of the beginning of their

relationship up until the time of their separation subsequent to the ceremonial marriage, Plaintiff made substantial contributions toward the growth of the separate assets of Defendant, which assets were accumulated and enhanced by the joint efforts of the parties. Based upon Plaintiff's efforts of contributing toward Defendant's separate assets which were accumulated by the joint efforts of the parties, the court determined that Plaintiff was entitled to a distribution of the Defendant's pre-marital property. As such, partnership distribution rules are not dispositive and in fact the partnership relationship was only considered in the larger context of the contributions made by Plaintiff toward the separate assets of Defendant before and after the ceremonial marriage.

Plaintiff is entitled to an award of her reasonable attorney's fees incurred to respond to Appellant's appeal by virtue of Rule 33(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure in that the court has established by its specific findings that Plaintiff has made substantial contributions toward the growth of the separate assets of Defendant which were accumulated or enhanced by the joint efforts of the parties. As such, there has been no abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court and Defendant's appeal is frivolous.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE WERE UNIQUE AND/OR EXCEPTIONAL CIRCUMSTANCES WHICH WARRANTED THE DISTRIBUTION OF THE DEFENDANT'S PRE-MARITAL PROPERTY.

The trial court acknowledged the general rule cited in Haumont

v. Haumont, 793 P.2d 421 (Utah Ct.App. 1990) which states that typically, each party is to "retain the separate property he or she brought into the marriage." At 424. (R. 231). It further noted that trial courts have the discretion to "reallocate premarital property" where "unique circumstances" exist. Id. (R. 231). Such unique circumstances include those set forth in paragraphs 10A-L of the court's findings and conclusions signed October 5, 1989, but are not necessarily limited to those findings. The court also considered the following exceptional circumstances outlined in Burke v. Burke, 733 P.2d 133, 135 (Utah 1987) in effectuating an equitable distribution of the marital and pre-marital property. The court then went on to find that Defendant's realty at issue was acquired and improved during the time in which the parties were commingling their earnings and efforts, and that as such the assets that are in dispute were accumulated or enhanced by the joint efforts of the parties.

Both parties derived benefits from their pre- and post-marital relationship with the other party. The Defendant helped Plaintiff satisfy debts that Plaintiff brought into the relationship. On the other hand, Plaintiff allowed the Defendant to live in her trailer, which was on property that was brought into the marriage, which trailer was habitable and in excellent condition. Defendant's trailer, on the other hand, was uninhabitable when the parties first met and later became habitable only because of the extensive work that Plaintiff spent in cleaning and repairing the trailer. Furthermore, Defendant had a place to stay in town when he returned

such that it was not necessary for him to maintain his own trailer. During the period of time that Defendant was away at work, Plaintiff arranged for and made physical improvements to Defendant's realty. A substantial amount of the improvements were performed by Plaintiff and her friends at no cost to Defendant except for materials. Furthermore, Plaintiff was expending income on behalf of the Defendant which allowed the Defendant to use earnings from his income to be applied towards the materials for the improvements as well as payments on the parcels of real property. Otherwise, it would have been necessary for Defendant to use a substantial amount of his resources to pay the ongoing expenses that Plaintiff was otherwise satisfying and Defendant would not have had the resources to pay for materials and payments on additional parcels of property.

It is evident that the trial court's findings are not erroneous and that Defendant has not met his burden of establishing that the findings were clearly erroneous. There was ample testimony by Plaintiff and a host of other witnesses that substantial services were performed by Plaintiff and her friends which substantially improved pre-marital assets of Defendant and that the parties' commingled their earnings and efforts to the benefit of Defendant. While it is true that Defendant himself testified contrary, the court chose to believe Plaintiff and her witnesses as well as the valuations and the evidence supporting Plaintiff's position and the court's decision. In any event, the judge's ruling was not clearly erroneous. The record is clear that

there were unique circumstances which warrant the reallocation of the Defendant's pre-marital property. The trial court's decision is clearly just and is most definitely not a clear abuse of discretion.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT DID NOT APPLY PARTNERSHIP DISSOLUTION RULES WHEN IT REALLOCATED THE DEFENDANT'S PRE-MARITAL PROPERTY AFTER DETERMINING THAT THE PARTIES HAD A PARTNERSHIP RELATIONSHIP PRIOR TO SOLEMNIZATION OF THEIR MARRIAGE.

The court found that from January of 1980 until the time of the parties' marriage, the parties commingled their earnings and efforts in such a way as to establish for all intents and purposes a partnership. (R. 232). The term "partnership" was used by the court to describe the relationship between the parties and in particular the arrangements that they had made in regards to Plaintiff arranging for and making improvements upon the real property and mobile homes, and also being responsible for many of the day-to-day expenses incurred by the parties, with Defendant on the other hand being responsible for the major expenses such as purchasing of property and making the ongoing payments as well as costs of materials for improvements. At no time did the court state that the parties had engaged in an official partnership which would require dissolution at the time of the parties' marriage. As set forth above, the Utah Supreme Court determined in Burke v. Burke, 733 P.2d 133, 135 (Utah 1987), that under unique and exceptional circumstances a court may award property such that one party would be entitled to an equitable share of pre-marital assets

brought by the other party into the marriage. The court specifically applied the standards required by the Court of Appeals. Defendant's attempt to circumvent the court's ruling by arguing that partnership dissolution laws should apply to these particular parties' relationship is an attempt to reap the substantial benefit derived by Defendant as a result of the contributions made by Plaintiff toward the growth of the separate assets of Defendant, which assets were substantially enhanced by both parties' efforts.

The parties' partnership-like relationship prior to their actual ceremonial marriage is an indication of the joint efforts of the parties to accumulate and enhance assets that Defendant brought into the marriage. As such, the parties' partnership-like relationship is an exceptional circumstance that the court should consider in determining an equitable distribution of the marital and pre-marital property. This was the approach of the trial court and is not clearly erroneous nor is there an abuse of discretion. Furthermore, the Findings of Fact accurately set forth the considerations contemplated by the trial court in the pre-marital, partnership-like relationship.

The trial court should not have applied partnership dissolution rules when reallocating Defendant's pre-marital property. The partnership-like relationship that occurred between the parties prior to the marriage was correctly considered by the trial court in establishing whether or not unique circumstances existed to warrant the reallocation of Defendant's pre-marital

property.

POINT III

RESPONDENT IS ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF HER REASONABLE ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS INCURRED TO RESPOND TO APPELLANT'S APPEAL.

Rule 33(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure allows the court to award attorney fees and costs as a sanction for a frivolous appeal.

In Porco v. Porco, 752 P.2d 365 (Utah App. 1988) this court ruled sanctions should be imposed for a frivolous appeal when

an appeal is obviously without merit and has been taken with no reasonable likelihood of prevailing, and results in delayed implementation of the judgment of the lower court; increased costs of litigation; and dissipation of the time and resources of the Law Court. [citation] Therefore, we award costs and attorney fees on appeal to [respondent].

The Porco court so ruled even though it "recognize[d] that sanctions for frivolous appeals should only be applied in egregious cases, lest there be an improper chilling of the right to appeal erroneous lower court decisions."

Likewise, in Fife v. Fife, 777 P.2d 512 (Utah App. 1989) this court imposed sanctions in the form of attorney fees incurred on appeal because of frivolous appeals. Both of these cases were remanded for a determination of the amount to be awarded. In neither of these cases was this court concerned with the Respondent's need for the award.

Here, Respondent seeks an award of her reasonable attorney fees incurred in this appeal under Rule 33(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, as this appeal is frivolous as defined by

Porco. Under this Rule Respondent seeks either the entire amount of her reasonable fees or such amount as may be determined to have been incurred for that portion of the appeal that this court find frivolous, if this court finds the appeal only partially frivolous.

CONCLUSION

The trial court did not err when it determined that unique circumstances existed sufficient to warrant the reallocation of Defendant's pre-marital property. The Plaintiff's contributions of time, money and work effort, as well as those of her friends, and Plaintiff's efforts to organize and make arrangements for others to perform labors at no cost to Defendant greatly enhanced the pre-marital properties accumulated by Defendant. There was ample testimony considered by the court to support this position and as such the trial court's findings are not clearly erroneous nor is the court's decision unjust or an abuse of discretion.

The trial court concluded that the parties' relationship from June of 1980 until the time of their marriage was, for all intents and purposes, a partnership-like relationship. This consideration was properly applied by the court and considered as a possible exceptional circumstance to justify reallocation of Defendant's pre-marital property, rather than using said the partnership-like relationship to rationalize using partnership dissolution rules.

The Plaintiff asks that the Court of Appeals affirm the trial court in all respects and that Plaintiff be awarded her reasonable attorney's fees and costs incurred in defending against the appeal.